TGEGKXGF. '32474235'284: 56. 'Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC12-2466

LOWER CASE NO. F00-40026A

COREY SM	ITH,
-VS-	Appellant,
STATE OF	FLORIDA,
	Appellee/
	APPEAL FROM THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA
	BRIEF PURSUANT TO FLA.R.CRIM.P. 3.851(i) COREY SMITH

CHARLES G. WHITE, P.A. Counsel for Appellant 1031 Ives Dairy Road Suite 228 Miami, Florida 33179 Tel: (305) 914-0160

Fax: (305) 914-0166

E-mail: <a href="mailto:cgwhitelaw@aim.com">cgwhitelaw@aim.com</a>

Florida Bar No. 334170

# **

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 13, 2000, COREY "BUBBA" SMITH was indicted with seven other co-defendants in a 17-count Indictment alleging crimes committed in connection with the drug-trafficking organization called the "John Does". SMITH was listed as the lead Defendant with violations of Florida's Racketeering Influenced and Corrupt Organizations ("RICO") Act, in violation of Florida Statute Section 895.03(4) (Count I), conspiracy to commit racketeering, in violation of Florida Statute 895.03 (Count II), conspiracy to traffic cannabis, in violation of Florida Statute Section 893.135(5) (Count III), conspiracy to traffic cocaine, in violation of Florida Statute Section 893.135(5) (Count IV), first degree murder, in violation of Florida Statute Section 782.04(1) (Counts VI (Leon Hadley), VII (Melvin Lipscomb), X (Cynthia Brown), XII (Jackie Pope), XIV (Kevin Smalls), and XVI (Angel Wilson)), conspiracy to commit first degree murder in violation of Florida Statute Section 782.04(1) (Counts V (Leon Hadley), IX (Cynthia Brown), XI (Jackie Pope), and XV (Anthony Fail)), second-degree murder with a firearm in violation of Florida Statute Section 782.04(2) (Count XIII) (Marlon Beneby), and solicitation of first degree murder in violation of

Florida Statute Section 782.04 ((Count XVII) (Jarrett Wolf)) (R1.104-126).

At the time of his Indictment, SMITH was serving a life sentence for Federal narcotics conspiracy charges brought two years earlier. The Federal Indictment was also based on SMITH's alleged role as leader of the John Does during the same time period covered by the Information in this case. A Joint Federal-State Task Force had investigated the John Does. Many of the murders: Leon Hadley, Melvin Lipscomb, Cynthia Brown, Marlon Beneby, Angel Wilson, and the conspiracy to murder Anthony Fail, were featured in the Federal case and used under the Federal Sentencing Guidelines as Relevant Conduct to justify the imposition of the life sentence. SMITH's conviction was affirmed on appeal, but his case was remanded for resentencing. <u>United States v. Allen</u>, 302 F.3d 1260 (11th Cir. 2002).

SMITH's State prosecution was initiated by the filing of an Indictment on August 9, 2000, charging him with conspiracy to commit murder and the murder of Cynthia Brown (R1.102-103). Since SMITH was in Federal custody, the State filed a Request for Temporary Custody in accordance with the Interstate

Agreement on Detainers on August 29, 2000 (R2.331-332). On October 13, 2000,

he was remanded to the custody of the State of Florida (R2.332).

SMITH was arraigned on the first Indictment on October 27, 2000, and after entering a plea of not guilty, he allegedly waived his right to a speedy trial (R2.332). On December 19, 2000, when SMITH was arraigned on the new Indictment with the additional charges, he was reminded by the Court that he had previously waived his right to a speedy trial (R2.332).

On June 8, 2004, SMITH filed a Motion to Dismiss Indictment based on the failure on the part of the State to comply with the mandates of Article IV(C) of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers, which requires trial within 180 days of a defendant being remanded by the federal government to the custody of the state for prosecution (R2.332). SMITH filed a Demand for Speedy Trial under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.191 in open court on June 8, 2004 (R.722). On June 15, 2004, the trial date was moved up from October 4, 2004, to July 12, 2004 to comply with the Demand for Speedy Trial (R4.722).

On June 29, 2004, the attorneys appeared before the Court without SMITH being present. The State represented to the Court the existence of "negotiations" with defense counsel concerning what it characterized as the "dispositive" speedy

trial issue. In order to secure the transcripts necessary for the Court to decide the issue, the State requested a tolling, "not a waiver, a tolling" of the speedy trial period. Without SMITH being present, his attorneys agreed to a 30-day tolling falsely representing to the Court SMITH's acquiescence. The State represented to the Court its understanding that the defense attorneys had agreed to a 60-day tolling. Instead, the Court tolled the speedy trial period for 45 days (R2.333).

The 45-day tolling period expired on August 14, 2004, and the speedy's clock restarted (R4.722-723). SMITH subsequently claimed that he never agreed to any tolling of his speedy trial rights, and the Court's decision to toll the clock for 45 days resulted in a trial date set after the 60-day period provided by Rule 3.191 upon a Speedy Trial Demand had expired (R7.1230-1231).

The Court had set a hearing on SMITH's Motion to Dismiss for August 2, 2004, but there was no record of any Court proceedings occurring on that date (R2.333). The State did not file its Response to the Motion to Dismiss until August 18, 2004. On September 14, 2004, the Court denied the Motion to Dismiss (R2.334).

Assuming the validity of the Court having tolled the speedy trial period for 45 days on June 29, 2004, trial should have commenced by September 12, 2004, which was 50 days after the filing of the Demand pursuant to Rule 3.191(b)(4).

Due to Hurricane Frances, this Court had tolled all deadlines, including speedy trial from September 1-7, 2004. This would have extended the expiration period 1 to expire to September 18, 2004.

At the September 14, 2004 hearing, defense counsel did not know the correct date within which to file a Notice of Expiration of Speedy Trial. They waited until September 23, 2004 to file it. There was another tolling of deadlines by this Court due to Hurricane Jeanne from September 23-27, 2004 (R4.723). Since SMITH's counsel had failed to effectively assert his speedy trial rights, trial commenced on October 4, 2004, and SMITH was no longer entitled to a discharge.

Trial commenced October 4, 2004. On December 3, 2004, the jury found SMITH guilty of the lesser-included crime of manslaughter on Counts 7 (Lipscomb) and 13 (Benneby), but otherwise found him guilty as charged (R4.714).

1

SMITH's post-conviction counsel had not seen the written Demand for Speedy Trial referenced at the June 14, 2004, hearing, and had calculated the speedy's clock from that date. This resulted in a representation that the speedies expired on September 19, 2004. Adding the six-day Hurricane Frances tolling advanced the date to September 25, 2012. Since the Demand for Speedy Trial was filed on June 8, 2004, adding the Hurricane Frances tolling resulted in an expiration date of September 18, 2004 (R.334-335).

Penalty Phase commenced on February 7, 2005. The State presented victim impact witnesses and the Medical Examiner on the Cynthia Brown homicide.

The defense called the following witnesses in mitigation: Richard Moore, SMITH's court-appointed attorney in his Federal trial, who testified to his good courtroom behavior; Phil White, a cooperating State witness, who clarified that it was Cooke, and not SMITH, who had shot Hadley; Detective Alfonso regarding admissions made by Julius Stevens helpful to SMITH; George Slattery, a polygrapher, who had taken two different statements from Mark Roundtree in which he admitted to having killed Hadley, which he subsequently recanted; and Willie Mae Smith, SMITH's mother (R4.714-715, 716).

Willie Mae Smith testified about SMITH's childhood, adolescence, and family relationships. By her account, SMITH was raised in a loving home and had a good relationship with his siblings. His brother had been robbed and killed when SMITH was 12 years old, and his father had died of a heart attack the following year. SMITH was robbed and stabbed one time at school, and his mother had been seriously injured when stabbed by one of her brothers in 1991. Another of SMITH's uncles was robbed and killed in Liberty City in April, 1992,

and yet another uncle was killed in a fire in November, 1992. SMITH helped take care of his grandmother until her death in 1998. He had been exposed to chronic drug dealing and gang violence growing up in Liberty City. He had a seven-year-old son, Christopher, with whom he had a good and loving relationship (R4.715).

The State called Detective Alfonso and Trish Geter on rebuttal. Detective Alfonso testified to having visited Roundtree in prison where he recanted his earlier admissions to having killed Hadley. Geter confirmed that SMITH loved his grandmother, but claimed he was too busy taking care of his drug business to take care of her (R4.716).

Following the Penalty Phase, the jury recommended life sentences for the murders of Leon Hadley and Jackie Pope, and death sentences for the murders of Cynthia Brown (by a vote of 10-2), and Angel Wilson (by a vote of 9-3) (R2.320-321, R4.716).

Following a <u>Spencer</u> Hearing, the Court entered its Sentencing Order on March 17, 2005. The Court affirmed the jury's recommendation of death for the murders of Angel Wilson and Cynthia Brown (R2.321, R4.716).

The Sentencing Order found that, as to the murder of Cynthia Brown, the Court gave great weight to three aggravating factors: prior violent felony convictions; murder committed to disrupt or hinder law enforcement; and murder committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. As to the murder of Angel Wilson, the Court also gave great weight to three factors: prior violent felony convictions; pecuniary gain; and murder committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner (R4.716-717).

As to its findings on mitigation, the Court allocated little weight to the lack of significant criminal history, extreme mental disturbance, and age. As to the proposed non-statutory mitigation, the Court found as follows: SMITH was not the actual killer, but only a minor participant (rejected); SMITH was born and raised in a crime-invested neighborhood (little weight); SMITH was raised in a gang-controlled community (little weight); SMITH was a good family man (some weight); SMITH's good behavior in his Federal trial (little weight); SMITH was exposed to chronic and systematic violence in his childhood and adolescence (little weight); and SMITH graduated from high school (little weight) (R4.717).

2

SMITH raised the following issues on direct appeal: (1) the trial court erred in ordering extensive security precautions in and around the courtroom, which were highly prejudicial to the Defendant, without giving the Defendant notice and an opportunity to be heard, in violation of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to a fair trial; (2) the trial court erred in not striking the jury panel who had been exposed to an out-of-court comment by the Defendant's mother which several members of the venire disapproved of and found inappropriate; (3) the court erred by allowing the State to use a non-qualified expert to "interpret" the words and phrases used by various persons on taped conversations played to the jury; (4) the court erred in allowing the State to introduce as non-hearsay a police report which contained out-of-court statements of Cynthia Brown accusing SMITH of killing Dominique Johnson, a homicide not charged in this case, and expressing her fear of him, when the State was offering the police report for the truth of its contents and the non-hearsay reason given by the State was pretextual; (5) the trial court erred in limiting the cross-examination of three witnesses: Anthony Fail, Demetrius Jones, and Dr. Emma Lew, the Medical Examiner who testified to the cause of death of Cynthia Brown, crucial to the State's case; (6) the trial court erred in not granting a mistrial after the prosecutor presented the Medical Examiner with an improper hypothetical, and solicited an opinion from the witness on the same fact after two defense objections were sustained; (7) the court erred in not granting a new trial for the State's intentional failure to provide the defense with a written statement from Mark Roundtree, who had admitted committing the Leon Hadley murder, was sentenced to life imprisonment, then recanted and implicated SMITH, that was materially favorable to the defense; (8) the court erred in not holding a hearing to determine prejudice to the defense after the State failed to disclose to the defense that witness Carlos Walker, who had originally denied any knowledge of the facts of the case during his deposition, had changed his statement testimony at trial and directly implicated SMITH by claiming to have witnessed him ordering Chazre Davis to "smother" Cynthia Brown; (9) the trial court erred in not granting a new trial where the trial was fundamentally flawed by the cumulative effect of prosecutorial misconduct, which could have reasonably been expected to affect the outcome of the trial.

this Court affirmed SMITH's convictions and sentences, <u>Smith v. State</u>, 7 So.3d 473 (Fla. 2009), but entered a corrected opinion on March 26, 2009.

This Court described in detail the evidence introduced at trial against SMITH. Smith, 7 So.2d at 480-91. That factual statement will be incorporated by reference in this Brief.

On April 13, 2009, the Florida Supreme Court entered a Provisional Appointment Order pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(b) appointing the Capital Collateral Regional Commission—South to handle post-conviction proceedings for SMITH. On May 13, 2009, the CCRC—South moved to withdraw from SMITH's case due to a case-load conflict. After an evidentiary hearing heard on July 9, 2009, that Motion to Withdraw was denied.

A timely Petition for Writ of Prohibition and/or Writ of Mandamus was filed with the Supreme Court intended to prohibit the enforcement of the Order denying CCRC's Motion to Withdraw. On March 9, 2010, the extraordinary petitions were voluntarily dismissed. <a href="Smith v. State">Smith v. State</a>, 32 So.3d 60 (Table) (Fla. 2010).

On May 28, 2010, the CCRC-South filed a timely Motion to Vacate

Judgment of Convictions and Sentences with Special Request for Leave to Amend

Pursuant to Rule 3.851 (R2.318-394). Paragraph 7 requested "leave to (1) supplement and/or amend his claims with new and/or additional evidence as it becomes available; (2) add claims; and (3) provide a memorandum of law in support of his claims for relief and his request for an evidentiary hearing." (R.319). Counsel averred that the Motion was not complete because the investigation, including the gathering of public records was on-going (R.319).

In Claim II, SMITH challenged the constitutionality of Rule 3.851 and the time limits imposed on post-conviction counsel to file a meaningful Motion to Vacate within the one year Statute of Limitations (R2.326-329).

On July 29, 2010, the State filed its Answer to Motion to Vacate and Memorandum of Law (R4.709-942). The State opposed all claims for relief advanced by SMITH without an evidentiary hearing except for the newly discovered evidence claim regarding the affidavit of Chazre Davis (Claim III)(c), and ineffective assistance of counsel regarding the giving of a manslaughter instruction (Claim III(a)(2)).

On November 22, 2011, SMITH filed a <u>pro se</u> Motion to Amend raising additional grounds (R6.1092-1101). On December 13, 2011, when the case was scheduled to be heard on one of SMITH's requests for public records, the CCRC-South filed a Motion to Withdraw (R6.1104-1109). Attached to the Motion was a

letter from SMITH alleging abandonment by his attorneys. He complained of not having been visited by them for one year (R6.1108).

On December 13, 2011, SMITH was able to appear by telephone. He heard the argument presented by his counsel requesting permission to withdraw as his attorney (R.16.44-51). During the course of the hearing, the Court advised SMITH as follows:

The Court: Mr. Smith, you understand if I do allow Ms. Keffer to

withdraw based on the conflict between you and she [sic] on your case that if I appoint another lawyer to represent you, it's going to take that lawyer an extraordinary amount of time to prepare, probably I would say six months to a

year. This is a huge case.

Defendant: Yes ma'am.

The Court: You understand that?

Defendant: Yes, I do.

The Court: And you are okay with that?

Defendant: Okay.

(R16.50).

The Court granted the Motion to Withdraw and sought new counsel for SMITH.

It was not until April 13, 2012, that undersigned counsel was appointed to represent SMITH (R6.1130-1131). The delay was attributable to the unwillingness or unavailability of other attorneys who were contacted. Counsel had been contacted by the Court in advance to inquire as to his availability. Counsel had informed the Court that he would be willing to accept the appointment, but needed the approval of SMITH. A letter was sent to SMITH, who responded that he would accept counsel's representation. He was not, however, in Court on April 13, 2012, because he was in trial in Federal Court. Based on his acceptance of the appointment informally communicated to the Court, an Order of Appointment was entered and the case set for Status on May 15, 2012 (R19.68-70). At the time, counsel was not advised as to any time limitations on his thorough review of the case and preparation of the issues for consideration by the Court. At the time, counsel understood that a 3.851 Motion had already been filed by the CCRC-South, and his role would be limited to litigating that Motion.

On May 15, 2012, counsel appeared for the Status Conference by telephone. He represented to the Court that he had been in a Federal trial since before his appointment, and had not yet had the opportunity to acquire the file from the

CCRC-South. He told the Court that he would be able to pick up the file the following week, and thought that he could be ready for the <u>Huff</u> Hearing in six weeks after that (R20.73). The Court decided to schedule the <u>Huff</u> Hearing for July 5, 2012 (R20.74).

On June 15, 2012, SMITH filed a Motion to Continue Huff Hearing (R6.1158-1161). SMITH's counsel advised that he had met with his predecessor counsel at the CCRC-South and learned that the 3.851 Motion they had filed on SMITH's behalf was incomplete. There appeared to be further investigation required in order to determine if additional grounds needed to be added to the original 3.851 Motion. Counsel realized that determining whether to add grounds would require further review of the Records and a visit with SMITH, who he had not been able to schedule.

The State filed a Response in Opposition to the Motion to Continue the Huff Hearing (R6.1162-1170). The State made no mention of SMITH having been previously advised by the Court that any newly-appointed counsel would need from 6-12 months to prepare his case. Instead, the State insisted that regardless of the appearance of newly-appointed counsel, the original 3.851 Motion had been pending for too long, and the Huff Hearing should be held as scheduled.

On June 26, 2012, SMITH's Motion to Continue Huff Hearing was heard. Counsel explained how he had come to understand the true scope of the case as well as the ongoing work that the CCRC-South had been conducting into supplementing the 3.851 Motion. When he had represented on May 15, 2012, that he thought he could be ready in six weeks, he was basing that estimate on a belief that his work would be limited to "getting up to speed" on the 3.851 Motion that had already been filed, which understanding was predicated on the filed motion being complete. Counsel explained to the Court that he could not possibly complete his review of over 50 boxes of documents, and visit SMITH in order to determine whether a supplemental/amended 3.851 motion should be filed, and do everything prior to the Huff Hearing (R21.78-80).

As to the public record requests that had been made subsequent to the filing of the original 3.851 Motion, counsel understood that the process was complete. He had a large number of CD's and boxes of disclosures, but he had not yet had the opportunity to review them all (R21.80-81).

At the June 26, 2012, hearing, counsel also expressed his concerns regarding mitigation. He indicated that no forensic psychologist had yet seen

SMITH, and the adequacy of the investigation for Penalty Phase could not yet be determined. The State contended that SMITH had always rejected mitigation recommended by his attorneys (R21.82-84).

The Court denied the Motion to Continue the <u>Huff</u> Hearing. It determined that counsel had not been specific enough regarding additional issues he could raise based upon the information obtained from the public records to justify a continuance. Counsel was invited to have SMITH evaluated and add to the 3.851 Motion if an issue arose as a result, but refused to continue the <u>Huff</u> Hearing to accomplish that (R21.81, 85-86).

On July 5, 2012, counsel appeared for the <u>Huff</u> Hearing. After hearing the argument of counsel, the Court made the following determinations on the claims presented.

Claim I–Moot.

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