TGEGKXGF. '51514236'2; ₹: 59. 'Iqj p'C0Vqo cukpq. 'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC12-2466

COREY SMITH,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

TAMARA MILOSEVIC Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.93614 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 Email:tamara.milosevic@ myfloridalegal.com PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5655

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

Moreover, a defendant who files a demand for speedy trial under circumstances that indicate that he is not actually ready to go to trial is not entitled to relief because of an alleged violation of the speedy trial rule. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191(g). Where a defendant has motions pending at the time the demand was filed, the demands have been found frivolous and subject to being stricken. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 449 So. 2d 253, 262 (Fla. 1984); <u>State ex rel. Ranalli v. Johnson</u>, 277 So. 2d 24, 25 (Fla. 1973). A demand is also considered frivolous when the circumstances under which it was filed indicate that the demand was filed for the purpose of seeking a speedy discharge and not a speedy trial. <u>State v. Velazquez</u>, 802 So. 2d 426, 428-30 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001). Additionally, a trial court is empowered to extend the speedy trial period when additional time is needed to hear

pretrial motions. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191(i)(4); <u>State v. Embry</u>, 322 So. 2d 515, 518 (Fla. 1975).

Here, the record reflects both that Defendant's demand was frivolous and that an extension of the speedy trial would have been properly granted even over Defendant's objection. On June 3, 2004, Defendant filed a motion to dismiss the indictment based on an alleged violation of the speedy trial period under the interstate agreement on detainers, even though Defendant had waived that speedy trial period, a fact that Defendant eventually admitted. (R2/267-73, R5/572-652, R14/25) Defendant only filed the speedy trial demand at the June 8, 2004 hearing when the trial court indicated that it would not force the State to litigate this motion until it had time to prepare. (R3/361-66) Even after filing the demand, Defendant personally indicated that he still wanted his frivolous motion to dismiss heard. (R4/440-41) At the hearing at which the speedy trial time was tolled, the State explained that the reason why more time was that it was in the process of obtaining the needed was transcripts needed to respond to the motion to dismiss. (R4/463-65) Given these circumstances, any attempt to object to extending the speedy trial period would not have been meritorious. As such, the lower court properly denied this claim. Bradley v. State, 33 So. 3d 664, 682 (Fla. 2010).

Defendant also attempts to avoid the rejection of this claim by making a conclusory assertion that he would have been entitled to a discharge. However, not only does Defendant's conclusory assertion of prejudice come too late, <u>Griffin v.</u> <u>State</u>, 866 So. 2d 1, 11 n.5 (Fla. 2003), but also it is insufficient to state a claim. Ragsdale, 720 So. 2d at 207.

Moreover, while Defendant cites to <u>Lockhart v. Fretwell</u>, 506 U.S. 364 (1993), and <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 913 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 2005), as if they somehow do not require him to show that there is a reasonable probability of a different result, neither case so holds. In <u>Robinson</u>, 913 So. 2d at 522 & n.7, this Court expressly stated that a defendant was required to show a reasonable probability of a different result to show prejudice and merely explained that this standard was not as rigorous as the standard for adjudicating newly discovered evidence claims.

In <u>Fretwell</u>, 506 U.S. at 366-68, the defendant has claimed that his counsel was deficient for failing to raise an issue based on a decision from an intermediate appellate court and that there was a reasonable probability of a different result because the trial court would have been required to decision at the time of his trial even though the United States Supreme Court had subsequently reversed the decision. Far from holding that the burden to show prejudice was minimal, the Court

actually held that showing a reasonable probability of a different result would be insufficient to show prejudice, where the defendant was seeking a windfall from an incorrect decision or other illegitimate conduct. Id. at 369-71. Moreover, the Court has subsequently explained that this heightened requirement to show prejudice does not apply outside of the windfall context. Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 391-95 (2000). Given these circumstances, neither of these cases show that a defendant can state a facially sufficient claim of ineffective assistance without showing a reasonable probability of a different result. Since Defendant has not made that showing, the lower court's denial of this claim should be affirmed.

IV. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM REGARDING THE MANSLAUGHTER INSTRUCTION.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court erred in denying his post conviction relief because his trial counsel was allegedly ineffective in failing to object to the trial court instructing the jury on the lesser included offense of manslaughter with regarding to the Hadley and Lipscomb murders. However, any claim regarding the Hadley murder is unpreserved and the entire claim is meritless.

In his post conviction motion, Defendant only alleged that

his counsel had been ineffective for failing to object to a manslaughter instruction with regarding to the Lipscomb murder. (PCR. 335-37) He raised no claim regarding the Hadley murder. As such, any claim of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding the manslaughter instruction about the Hadley murder is unpreserved and procedurally barred.⁶ <u>Griffin v. State</u>, 866 So. 2d 1, 11 n.5 (Fla. 2003).

With regard to the portion of the claim, Defendant is also not entitled to any relief. While Defendant acts as if the lower court summarily denied this claim because the statute of limitations had been extended, the lower court actually granted Defendant an evidentiary hearing on this claim. (PCT. 96) After Defendant failed to present any evidence regarding the claim at the evidentiary hearing, the lower court denied the claim based

⁶ Moreover, Defendant offers no explanation of how the failure to object to the manslaughter instruction with regarding to the Hadley murder could have possibly prejudiced him. This lack of explanation is understandable because such a lack of objection could not possibly have done so. Defendant was convicted of first degree murder regarding Hadley after the jury was instructed on both that offense and the lesser included offenses of second degree murder and manslaughter. (R20/2695, R70/5991-97) This Court has recognized that any error in the giving of an instruction on a lesser included offense is harmless error when the lesser offense is two steps removed from the offense of which the defendant was convicted. State v. Abreau, 363 So. 2d 1063, 1064 (Fla. 1978). This Court has also recognized that an error regarding a jury instruction on a lesser will not support a finding of prejudice even where the error would have been harmful on direct appeal. Sanders v. State, 946 So. 2d 953 (Fla. 2006). Thus, the portion of the claim regarding Hadley is also meritless.

on Defendant's failure to prove his claim. (PCR. 1249) Having failed to present any argument regarding how that ruling was incorrect, Defendant has waived any claim regarding it. <u>Shere v.</u> <u>State</u>, 742 So. 2d 215, 217 n.6 (Fla. 1999). The lower court should be affirmed.

This is all the more true, as the lower court's ruling was correct. Defendant bore the burden of proving his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. <u>Wong v. Belmontes</u>, 558 U.S. 15, 27 (2009). By presenting no evidence, Defendant failed to carry that burden. <u>See Owen v. State</u>, 773 So. 2d 510, 513-15 (Fla. 2000). The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

Further, even if Defendant has been correct about the basis of the lower court's ruling, he would still be wrong in asserting that the rejection of the claim was error. As this Court has long recognized, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise a meritless issue. <u>Bradley v. State</u>, 33 So. 3d 664, 682 (Fla. 2010). Here, any claim that the statute of limitation barred a manslaughter prosecution was meritless. <u>State v. Calderon</u>, 951 So. 2d 1031 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007). As such, the lower court properly denied Defendant's claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to raise this meritless issue and should be affirmed.

In an attempt to avoid this result, Defendant argues that

applying an extension of a statute of limitations to him would violate the <u>Ex Post Facto</u> Clause. However, this Court, and other courts of this state have recognized that the legislature can extend the statute of limitation so long as the statute of limitations has not expired and the legislature indicates that it intends for the extension to apply to cases in which the statute of limitations has yet to expire. <u>Reino v. State</u>, 352 So. 2d 853, 861 (Fla. 1977) (holding that legislature could have retroactively extended statute of limitations applicable to murder offenses without violating ex post facto prohibition, but failed to act while previous statute allowed prosecution); <u>Bryson v. State</u>, 42 So. 3d 852, 854 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010); <u>Scharfschwerdt v. Kanarek</u>, 553 So. 2d 218, 220 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); Andrews v. State, 392 So. 2d 270, 271 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980).

Here, the legislature amended the statute of limitations effective October 1, 1996, to provide that a prosecution for a felony that resulted in death could be commenced at any time and indicated its intent for this extension to apply retroactively. Ch. 96-145, Laws of Fla. (1996). At the time this occurred, the three year statute of limitation that had previously applied to manslaughter, §775.15(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1995), had not expired regarding the killing of Lipscomb, which occurred on August 25, 1995. (R1/83) Since the statute of limitations had not expired

when the legislature extended it, Defendant's argument is meritless and should be rejected.

Defendant's reliance on <u>Stogner v. California</u>, 539 U.S. 607 (2003), is misplaced. In <u>Stogner</u>, the Court held that a statute that attempted to extend a statute of limitation after it had expired violated <u>Ex Post Facto</u> Clause. <u>Id.</u> at 632-33. The Court entire analysis of how this was true depended on the fact that the statute of limitations had expired before the new act sought to extend it. <u>Id.</u> at 611-18. In fact, the Court expressly noted that numerous courts had held that unexpired statutes of limitations could be extended and stated that it was not invalidating those decision. <u>Id.</u> at 618-19. As such, Defendant's suggestion that <u>Stogner</u> held an unexpired statute of limitations cannot be extended without violating the <u>Ex Post Facto</u> Clause is simply incorrect. The lower court should be affirmed.

V. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND MERITLESS INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM REGARDING THE FAILURE TO REQUEST A RICHARDSON HEARING.

Defendant asserts that the trial court erred in denying his claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to request a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry when it became clear that the State had not disclosed Carlos Walker had reversed to his original statement incriminating Defendant after denying any knowledge during

deposition. However, the lower court properly denied this claim as procedurally barred and meritless.

It is well established that allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel cannot be used to circumvent the rule that postconviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal. <u>Griffin</u>, 866 So. 2d at 16. Attempts to relitigate claims under the guise of ineffective assistance are procedurally barred. <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995); <u>Harvey v. Dugger</u>, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995). Here, Defendant raised the claim that Defendant was entitled to a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry, and this Court rejected that claim, finding that Defendant had sufficiently a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry by moving for a mistrial, that the trial court had erred in not conduct such an inquiry and that the error was harmless. <u>Smith</u>, 7 So. 3d at 504-07. As such, the lower court properly denied this barred claim.

In his initial motion, Defendant argued that his counsel was ineffective because he did not request a <u>Richardson</u> hearing when he moved for a mistrial during Walker's testimony. However, on direct appeal, this Court determined that the motion for mistrial was sufficient to request a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry and that the trial court had erred in not conduct such an inquiry but that the error was harmless. Smith, 7 So. 3d at 504-07. Thus,

counsel's performance cannot be deemed deficient for failing to do what he actually did at trial. The claim was properly denied.

Moreover, this Court has held that a defendant cannot show prejudice to support a <u>Strickland</u> where this Court had already determined that an error had not harmed a defendant on direct appeal. <u>Chandler v. State</u>, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1046 (Fla. 2003). As noted above, this Court has already determined that Defendant was not harmed on direct appeal. <u>Smith</u>, 7 So. 3d at 504-07. Thus, this claim was properly denied under Chandler.

In his attempt to avoid this result, Defendant argues for the first time on appeal that this Court used the incorrect standard to determine the claim was harmless. However, as this Court has held that it is improper to present grounds for post conviction relief for the first time on appeal. This argument should be rejected. <u>Griffin</u>, 866 So. 2d at 11 n.5.

Even if this argument was properly before this Court, it would still have been rejected. While Defendant suggests that the proper standard to determine whether the failure to request a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry is found in <u>Delaware v. Van Ardsall</u>, 475 U.S. 673 (1986), this is not true. The issue in <u>Van Ardsall</u> was whether a trial court's restriction of cross examination of a witness was harmful. <u>Id.</u> at 679-84. Here, in contrast, the issue was merely whether the trial court should have held a hearing to

determine whether Defendant's trial strategy would have changed if he had know that Walker would revert to his original statements. Given these circumstances, Defendant's argument is meritless and should be rejected.

VI. THE INEFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM REGARDING THE FAILURE TO UTILIZE THE SERVICES OF A FORENSIC PATHOLOGIST WAS PROPERLY DENIED AS IT INSUFFICIENT AND REFUTED WAS LEGALLY BY THE RECORD.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court erred in denying his claim that his counsel was ineffective regarding the utilization of a pathologist to challenge Brown's cause of death. However, this issue presents no basis for reversal because Defendant has waived the claim that was properly presented below and properly summarily denied. Moreover, the lower court properly denied leave to amend to present the claim Defendant attempts to present on appeal, which would have been properly summarily denied in any event.

While Defendant argues this claim on appeal as if he had claimed that counsel was ineffective for claiming that Brown died of a drug overdose in opening knowing that such a statement was not consistent with the evidence that could be presented, this is not true. Instead, the claim raised in the motion for post conviction relief was a claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to hire a pathologist to testify regarding Brown's

cause of death. (PCR. 339-42) The assertion that counsel was ineffective for making allegedly false statements regarding Brown's cause of death in opening was only raised in the amended motion that Defendant attempted to file after the evidentiary hearing was over. (PCR. 1231-34) As argued in Issue I, the lower court properly denied leave to amend to raise regarding this claim. As this Court has held, a lower court cannot be said to have improperly summarily denied a claim, where the basis for arguing that the claim was improperly denied is an attempt to amend a claim that was rejected. <u>See Vining v. State</u>, 827 So. 2d 201, 211-13 (Fla. 2002). The lower court should be affirmed.

Moreover, having failed to acknowledge the claim that was properly presented below, Defendant makes no argument regarding how the lower court erred in denying that claim. As such, Defendant has waived any issue regarding the denial of the real claim. <u>Shere</u>, 742 So. 2d at 217 n.6. The lower court should be affirmed.

Even if Defendant had attempted to brief the denial of the claim that was properly presented below, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. The lower court denied this claim because the record refuted that counsel failed to hire a pathologist and because Defendant failed to allege prejudice sufficiently. (PCR. 1249-50) This Court has held that counsel

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